**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
SUPREME COURT NO. 23-0719
Clinton County No. LACV048488**

ESTATE OF SHIRLEY KAY GOMEZ, by GLORIA ANN SHONTZ,
Administrator, ANDREA MARIE BELL, individually, KRISTINA
CHRISTIAN LINCOLN, individually, and KIM MARIE KERR,
individually,

Plaintiffs-Appellees,

vs.

MERCY MEDICAL CENTER-CLINTON, INC., and AMARESHWAR
CHIRUVELLA, M.D.,

Defendants-Appellants.

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR CLINTON COUNTY
HON. STUART WERLING**

Final Brief for Defendants-Appellants

Frederick T. Harris #AT0003198
Theodore T. Appel #AT0014941
LAMSON DUGAN & MURRAY LLP
1045 76th Street, Suite 3000
West Des Moines, IA 50266
Phone: 515-513-5003
Fax: 515 298-6536

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. Plaintiffs' Certificates of Merit were not Affidavits, Signed Under A Properly Conducted Oath, Affirmation or Under Penalty of Perjury as Required by Iowa Code section 147.140. Substantial Compliance Does Not Save This Deficiency. Dismissal with Prejudice of the Entire Action Was Required Pursuant to Iowa Code section 147.140(6).

Cases:

Bride v. Trinity Hosp., 927 N.W.2d 416 (N.D. 2019)

Carreras v. Iowa Dep't of Transp., 977 N.W.2d 438 (Iowa 2022)

City of Cedar Rapids v. Atsinger, 617 N.W.2d 272 (Iowa 2000) (en banc)

Dalbey Bros. Lumber Co. v. Crispin, 12 N.W.2d 277 (Iowa 1943)

Dishmon v. Fucci, 32 A.3d 338 (Del. 2011)

Entler v. Entler, 398 N.W.2d 848 (Iowa 1987)

Essig v. Advocate BroMenn Med. Ctr., 33 N.E.3d 288 (Ill. App. Ct. 2015)

Estate of Butterfield v. Chautauqua Guest Homes, Inc., 987 N.W.2d 834
(Iowa 2023)

Farmers State Sav. Bank v. J.B.H. Enterprises, 561 N.W.2d 836 (Iowa Ct.
App. 1997)

George v. D.W. Zinser Co., 762 N.W.2d 865 (Iowa 2009)

Good v. Iowa Dep't of Hum. Servs., 924 N.W.2d 853 (Iowa 2019)

Hasselman v. Hasselman, 596 N.W.2d 541 (Iowa 1999)

Holmes v. Michigan Capital Med. Ctr., 620 N.W.2d 319 (Mich. Ct. App. 2000)

In re Guardianship of J.W., 991 N.W.2d 143 (Iowa 2023)

In re Foley, No. 16-1676, 2017 Iowa App. LEXIS 848 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 16, 2017)

Jud. Branch v. Iowa Dist. Ct., 800 N.W.2d 569 (Iowa 2011)

Kirlin v. Monaster, 984 N.W.2d 412 (Iowa 2023)

Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856 (Iowa 2012)

Luman v. Luman, No. 17-0223, 2018 Iowa App. LEXIS 180, (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 21, 2018)

Ly-Carter v. Macagy, No. F076715, 2019 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 6864 (Cal. Ct. App. Oct. 11, 2019)

Maytag Corp. v. Electrolux Home Prods., 448 F. Supp. 2d 1034 (N.D. Iowa 2006)

McCoy v. State, No.17-1919, 2020 Iowa App. LEXIS 646 (Iowa Ct. App. June 17, 2020)

McGrew v. Otoadese, 969 N.W.2d 311 (Iowa 2022)

McHugh v. Smith, 966 N.W.2d 285 (Iowa Ct. App. 2021)

Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532 (Iowa 2002)

Miller v. Palo Alto Board of Supervisors, 84 N.W.2d 38 (Iowa 1957)

MountainView Hosp., Inc. v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 273 P.3d 861 (Nev. 2012)

Paradis v. Webber Hosp., 409 A.2d 672 (Me. 1979)

Provident Life and Accident Ins. Co. v. Goel, 274 F.3d 984 (5th Cir. 2001)

Ronfeldt v. Shelby Cnty., 984 N.W.2d 418 (Iowa 2023)

Schmitt v. Floyd Valley Healthcare, No. 20-0985, 2021 Iowa App. LEXIS 560 (Iowa Ct. App. July 21, 2021)

Shams v. Hassan, 829 N.W.2d 848 (Iowa 2013)

Sood v. Smeigh, 578 S.E.2d 158 (Ga. Ct. App. 2003)

State v. Bonstetter, 637 N.W.2d 161 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Carter, 618 N.W.2d 374 (Iowa 2000) (en banc)

State v. Dann, 591 N.W.2d 635 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Mathias, 936 N.W.2d 222 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Middlekauff, 974 N.W.2d 781 (Iowa 2022)

State v. Ross, 941 N.W.2d 341 (Iowa 2020)

State v. Shorter, 945 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2020)

State v. Tague, 676 N.W.2d 197 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Washington, 832 N.W.2d 650 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Zacarias, 958 N.W.2d 573 (Iowa 2021)

State Pub. Defender v. Iowa Dist. Ct., 663 N.W.2d 413 (Iowa 2003)

Struck v. Mercy Health Servs., 973 N.W.2d 533 (Iowa 2022)

Superior/Ideal, Inc. v. Board of Review of City of Oskaloosa, 419 N.W.2d 405 (Iowa 1988)

T & K Roofing Co. v. Iowa Dep't of Educ., 593 N.W.2d 159 (Iowa 1999)

Tschakert v. Fairview Health Servs., No. A10-611, 2011 Minn. App. Unpub. LEXIS 79 (Minn. Ct. App. Jan. 25, 2011)

Tunia v. St. Francis Hosp., 832 A.2d 936 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 2003)

Womer v. Hilliker, 908 A.2d 269 (Pa. 2006)

Statutes:

Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 12-2603

Ark. Rev. Stat. § 16-114-209

Del. Code Ann. Tit. 18, § 6853

Ga. Code Ann. § 9-11-9.1

735 Ill. Comp. Stat. § 5/2-622

Iowa Code § 4.1

Iowa Code § 4.6

Iowa Code § 147.140

Iowa Code § 622.1

Iowa Code § 622.85

Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 411.167

24 Me. Stat. tit. 24, § 2903 (1977)

Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. § 600.2912d

Minn. Stat. § 145.682

Mo. Rev. Stat. § 538.225

Nev. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 41A.071

N.J. Stat. Ann. § 2A:53A-27

N.D. Cent. Code § 28-01-46

Ohio R. Civ. P. 10

Iowa Court Rules:

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.500

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.501

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.509

Iowa R. Evid. 5.201

Iowa R. Evid. 5.603

Secondary Sources:

2017 Iowa Acts ch. 107

Affirmation, *Black's Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019)

And, *Merriam-Webster*, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/and>

Certificate of Merit, *Black's Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019)

Jurat, *Black's Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019)

Jurat, *Merriam-Webster*, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/jurat>

Oath, *Black's Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019)

Am. Jur. 2d *Oath and Affirmation* § 17 (1989)

Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, *Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts* 116 (2012)

Webster's Third New International Dictionary 1929 (unabr. ed. 1993)

II. Plaintiffs Should Only Be Allowed to Pursue a Cause of Action Substantiated by their Certificates of Merit

Cases:

Butler v. Iyer, No. 21-0796, 2022 Iowa App. LEXIS 291 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 13, 2022)

Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856 (Iowa 2012)

Iowa Coal Mining Co. v. Monroe Cty., 555 N.W.2d 418 (Iowa 1996)

Struck v. Mercy Health Servs., 973 N.W.2d 533 (Iowa 2022)

Statutes:

Iowa Code § 147.140

Secondary Sources:

Cause of Action, *Ballentine's Law Dictionary* (2010)

Each, Merriam-Webster <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/each>

ROUTING STATEMENT

Mercy Medical Center – Clinton Inc. and Amareshwar Chiruvella [hereinafter Defendants] argue that this appeal should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court. Whether a certificate of merit that is not an affidavit satisfies the substantial compliance standard and what content a certificate of merit affidavit must sufficiently provide presents substantial issues of first impression, and fundamental and urgent issues of broad public importance requiring ultimate determination by the Iowa Supreme Court, and/or a substantial question of enunciating or changing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c-d, f). Notably, this appeal may further delineate the substantial compliance standard that the Iowa Supreme Court will clarify in other retained appeals involving Iowa Code section 147.140. *See, e.g., Estate of Fahrman et. al. v. ABCM Corporation et. al.*, No. 22–0495 (Iowa submitted Nov. 15, 2023); *Miller et. al. v. Catholic Health Initiatives – Iowa Corp. et. al.*, No. 22–1574 (Iowa retained Apr. 25, 2023).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a medical malpractice case. Plaintiffs filed a petition on August 26, 2022 alleging that Mercy Medical Center – Clinton, Inc. and Amareshwar Chiruvella, M.D. were negligent in their post-treatment care of Shirley

Gomez.¹ *See generally* App. 515 (Petition at Law and Jury Demand (D0001)). Specifically, the plaintiffs allege that Dr. Chiruvella failed to properly care for Ms. Gomez’s risk of deep vein thrombosis and/or a pulmonary embolism. App. 515 (Petition at Law and Jury Demand (D0001) ¶¶ 14–29). Defendants filed an answer on October 12 denying the allegations. *See generally* App. 2029 (Answer (D0015)).

A first certificate of merit was served on September 21, 2022, by Dr. Leo Gordon “regarding the care of Shirley Gomez by Dr. Amareshwar Chiruvella.” *See generally* App. 18–19 (Certificate of Merit Affidavit of Leo M. Gordon, M.D. Regarding Defendant Mercy Medical Center-Clinton, Inc. (D0007)). This document stated that “Leo A. Gordon, M.D. does hereby affirm and state as follows:” *Id.* Based on his review of the medical record, he explained that Dr. Chiruvella “breached the standard of care for a general surgeon with respect to the care and treatment of Shirley Gomez in September 2020 by failing to timely refer Mrs. Gomez for appropriate work-up and treatment of possible pulmonary embolism.” *Id.* at ¶ 7. The certificate of merit did not contain a jurat nor was it signed under penalty of perjury. *Id.*

¹The Petition also named MercyOne and MercyOne Clinton Specialty Care. These fictitious entities were dismissed without prejudice on December 1, 2022.

On January 24, 2023, plaintiffs served another certificate of merit apparently signed and dated by Dr. Gordon on January 23, 2023. *See generally* App. 3334 (Certificate of Merit Affidavit of Leo M. Gordon, M.D. Regarding Defendant Mercy Medical Center-Clinton, Inc. (D0022)). The only substantive difference between this certificate of merit and the one served on September 21, 2022 was that this Certificate of Merit was “Regarding Defendant Mercy Medical Center – Clinton Inc” in the header and that the certificate of merit mentioned Dr. Chiruvella was an employee of the Mercy Medical Center. *Id.* Like the first certificate of merit, the second certificate of merit did not contain a jurat nor was it signed under penalty of perjury. *Id.*

On February 24, defendants filed a motion to dismiss for failure to substantially comply with Iowa Code section 147.140(1)(b). *See* App. 35 (Mercy Medical Center-Clinton, Inc. and Amareshwar Chiruvella’s Motion to Dismiss For Failure to Substantially Comply with Iowa Code section 147.140 (D0025)). The motion requested that the District Court dismiss the case in its entirety because the certificates of merit failed to show Dr. Gordon signed the document under oath or affirmation as required by Iowa Code section 147.140(1)(b) or otherwise signed the certificate of merit under penalty of perjury. *Id.* at 36. The motion to dismiss also requested dismissal of all other cause of actions or allegations in the petition that were not supported by Dr.

Gordon's certificates of merit: namely allegations other than Dr. Chiruvella failed "to timely refer Mrs. Gomez for appropriate work-up and treatment of possible pulmonary embolism." *Id.* at 37.

Plaintiffs filed a timely resistance via extension on March 13. Plaintiffs argued that the phrase "affirms and states as follows" in Dr. Gordon's certificates of merit constituted a proper affirmation like an oath, even though plaintiffs did not provide evidence of the time, place, and individual of who administered the affirmation. *See* App. 40 (Plaintiffs' Resistance to Defendants Motion to Dismiss (Oral Argument Requested) (D0030)). Alternatively, plaintiffs argued that this statement was sufficient to meet the substantial compliance standard. *Id.* at 44–47. Regarding defendants' other point, plaintiffs argued that the certificate of merit affidavit statute only requires the plaintiff's expert to specify one breach in the standard of care which could open the door to other causes of action. *Id.* at 49–51.

Defendants filed a timely reply on March 16. *See* App. 52 (Defendants Reply to Plaintiff's Resistance in Support of Their Motion to Dismiss for Failure to substantially Comply with Iowa code section 147.140 (D0032)). The reply explained that simply stating "affirms and states as follows" in a certificate is not sufficiently an oath or affirmation because there was no declaration made to an authorized individual to receive it under binding Iowa

caselaw or that it substantially complied with the phrase “under penalty of perjury.” *Id.* at 53–59. Defendants further argued that substantial compliance could not save a deficient certificate of merit that was not sworn or affirmed to or otherwise signed under penalty of perjury. *Id.* Defendants also argued that the purpose of the certificate of merit statute was to ensure that all claims in plaintiffs’ petition could be supported by expert testimony. *Id.*

An unreported oral hearing was held on April 4, 2023. On May 1, 2023, an order was entered denying defendants’ motion to dismiss. *See* App. 64 ((Proposed) Order on Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss). On the first appealed issue, the court held “that the Certificates of Merit served by the Plaintiffs in this matter were in substantial compliance with Iowa Code § 147.140.” *Id.* at 64. On the second appealed issue, the Court denied the dismissal of any causes of action outside of whether Dr. Chiruvella failed “to timely refer Mrs. Gomez for appropriate work-up and treatment of possible pulmonary embolism” as “premature.” *Id.* at 65.

A timely application for interlocutory appeal followed. *See* App. 67 (Mercy Medical Center-Clinton Inc. and Amareshwar Chiruvella Application for Interlocutory Appeal). The application for interlocutory appeal was granted on July 17, 2023. *See* App. 112 (Order).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts relevant to this appeal are relatively simple. Plaintiffs’ petition alleges that Dr. Chiruvella, and Mercy Medical Center – Clinton, Inc. breach the standard of care on the following: failing to properly communicate with the nursing and other support staff acting pursuant to his orders; In failing to provide appropriate medical care; In failing to properly monitor and care for Shirley Gomez; In failing to timely and properly respond to signs and symptoms during Shirley Gomez’s care and treatment; In failing to act as a reasonable physician would act under the circumstances. App. 10–11, 13–14 (Petition at Law and Jury Demand (D0001) ¶¶ 38(a-e) 54(a-e)).

Plaintiffs filed two certificates of merit that are nearly identical. *See generally* App. 18–19, 33–34 (Certificate of Merit Affidavit of Leo M. Gordon, M.D. Regarding Defendant Mercy Medical Center-Clinton, Inc. (D0007); Mercy Medical Center-Clinton, Inc. and Amareshwar Chiruvella’s Motion to Dismiss For Failure to Substantially Comply with Iowa Code section 147.140 (D0025)). Both state that Dr. Gordon “affirms and states as follows.” *Id.* However, neither certificates of merit contain a jurat or a signature by Dr. Gordon that he signed the document “under penalty of perjury.” *Id.* As applied to the content, both certificates state that Dr. Chiruvella failed “to timely refer Mrs. Gomez for appropriate work-up and treatment of possible pulmonary embolism.” *Id.*

ARGUMENT

I. Plaintiffs' Certificates of Merit were not Affidavits, Signed Under a Properly Conducted Oath, Affirmation or Under Penalty of Perjury as Required by Iowa Code section 147.140. Substantial Compliance Does Not Save This Deficiency. Dismissal with Prejudice of the Entire Action Was Required Pursuant to Iowa Code section 147.140(6).

A. Error Preservation.

An issue is preserved if the “court’s ruling indicates that the court considered the issue and necessarily ruled on it, even if the court’s reasoning is ‘incomplete or sparse’ the issue has been preserved.” *Lamasters v. State*, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012) (quoting *Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 540 (Iowa 2002)). Error has been preserved on whether the Plaintiff adequately filed a substantially compliant certificate of merit in relation to the affidavit or “under oath” requirement in Iowa Code section 147.140. *Lamasters*, 821 N.W.2d at 864; *see* App. at 35 (Mercy Medical Center-Clinton, Inc. and Amareshwar Chiruvella’s Motion to Dismiss For Failure to Substantially Comply with Iowa Code section 147.140 (D0025)); *see also* App. at 64 ((Proposed) Order on Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss).

B. Standard of Review.

A motion to dismiss and statutory interpretation principles are reviewed for correction of errors at law. *Struck v. Mercy Health Servs.*, 973 N.W.2d 533, 538 (Iowa 2022). However, the appellate court can treat defendants’

motion to dismiss as a motion for summary judgment, if necessary, considering the District Court reviewed and relied on the certificates of merit in its order. *In re Guardianship of J.W.*, 991 N.W.2d 143, 148 (Iowa 2023) (“[H]olding an evidentiary hearing on that issue was thus also analogous to construing the ‘motion to dismiss’ as one for summary judgment, since at such hearings the parties present, and the court considers, evidence beyond that contained in the petition.”); *George v. D.W. Zinser Co.*, 762 N.W.2d 865, 867 (Iowa 2009) (“As the motion to dismiss in this case relied on matter outside the pleadings and both parties and the court treated it as a motion for summary judgment, we will do so as well.”); *see also* Brief in Support of Mercy Medical Center-Clinton, Inc. and Amareshwar Chiruvella’s Motion to Dismiss For Failure to Substantially Comply with Iowa Code section 147.140 (D0025 Attach.) at Pg. 5 n.2) (citing this principle).²

Factual determinations are binding if there is substantial evidence to support a claim. *Cf. Shams v. Hassan*, 829 N.W.2d 848, 853 (Iowa 2013). “Evidence is substantial when a reasonable mind would accept it as adequate

²Alternatively, the court may take judicial notice of the certificates of merit that were filed as part of the district court’s docket on EDMS. *See* Iowa R. Evid. 5.201; *State v. Washington*, 832 N.W.2d 650, 655 (Iowa 2013) (“Judicial notice may be taken on appeal.”); *see also Luman v. Luman*, No. 17-0223, 2018 Iowa App. LEXIS 180, at *1 n.1 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 21, 2018) (explaining judicial notice can be taken from documents filed with the district court).

to reach a conclusion.” *State v. Bonstetter*, 637 N.W.2d 161, 165 (Iowa 2001) (quoting *Hasselmann v. Hasselman*, 596 N.W.2d 541, 545 (Iowa 1999)).

C. Background of Iowa Code section 147.140 and its Requirements.

In 2017, the Iowa legislature enacted additional safeguards for healthcare providers in medical malpractice suits. *See generally* 2017 Iowa Acts ch. 107. These revisions included a non-economic damages cap, strengthened expert testimony requirements, and a new certificate of merit affidavit statute. *Id.* (codified at Iowa Code § 147.136A, .139, .140).

The new certificate of merit affidavit statute requires a plaintiff to file an affidavit by a medical expert within sixty days of the defendant’s answer against each healthcare provider. Iowa Code § 147.140(1). “[T]he legislature enacted section 147.140 to provide a mechanism for early dismissal with prejudice of professional liability claims against healthcare providers when supporting expert testimony is lacking.” *Struck*, 973 N.W.2d at 539. “The new legislation imposes two extra burdens: (1) provide verified information about the medical malpractice allegations to the defendants and (2) do so earlier in litigation.” *McHugh v. Smith*, 966 N.W.2d 285, 289 (Iowa Ct. App. 2021). Failure to substantially comply with the statute’s requirements requires dismissal of “each cause of action as to which expert witness testimony is

necessary to establish a prima facie case” with prejudice. Iowa Code § 147.140(6).

D. Iowa Code section 147.140 Requires the Certificate of Merit to be an Affidavit or Signed under Oath. An Oath or Affirmation of Plaintiffs’ Expert Requires the Presence of Another to Ensure the Expert is Conscience Bound. The Only Exception to the Presence of Another is if a Document is Signed Under Penalty of Perjury.

Iowa Code section 147.140 contains several provisions to ensure the plaintiff is providing “verified information” to the court. *McHugh*, 966 N.W.2d at 290. Of relevance to this appeal, is that the “*certificate of merit affidavit* must be signed by the expert witness and certify the purpose for calling the expert witness by providing *under the oath³ of the expert witness all of the following:*” Iowa Code § 147.140(1)(b) (emphasis added). The first question for this appellate court to determine what an “affidavit” is or what an “oath” constitutes.

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