IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 23-0719

ESTATE OF SHIRLEY KAY GOMEZ, by GLORIA ANN SHONTZ,
Administrator, ANDREA MARIE BELL, individually, KRISTINA CHRISTIAN
LINCOLN, individually, and KIM MARIE KERR, individually,

Plaintiffs-Appellees

vs.

MERCY MEDICAL CENTER-CLINTON, INC., and AMARESHWAR
CHIRUVELLA, M.D.,

Defendants-Appellants

**APPEAL FROM THE CLINTON COUNTY DISTRICT COURT CASE
NO. LACV048488
THE HONORABLE STUART WERLING
PRESIDING JUDGE**

PLAINTIFFS-APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF

Jon Specht AT0012576
TRIAL LAWYERS FOR JUSTICE
421 W. Water St., Third Floor
Decorah, IA 52101
Phone: (563) 382-5071
Fax: (888) 801-3616
Email: jon@tl4j.com

ATTORNEYS FOR
PLAINTIFFS-APPELLEES

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

ARGUMENT

I. Plaintiffs’ Certificates of Merit Were in Substantial Compliance With Iowa Code section 147.140

A. Standard of Review

Rulings on motions to dismiss are reviewed for correction of errors of law. *Struck v. Mercy Health Servs.*, 973 N.W.2d 533 at 538 (Iowa 2022). “[M]otions to dismiss are rarely granted and nearly every case will survive a motion to dismiss.” *Weizberg v. City of Des Moines*, 923 N.W.2d 200, 217 (Iowa 2018), citing *U.S. Bank v. Barbour*, 770 N.W.2d 350, 353 (Iowa 2009) and *Rees v. City of Shenandoah*, 682 N.W.2d 77, 79 (Iowa 2004). “Generally, a motion to dismiss should not be granted.” *Weizberg v. City of Des Moines*, 923 N.W.2d 200, 217 (Iowa 2018).

B. Argument

As the District Court correctly held, Plaintiffs' Certificates of Merit were in substantial compliance with Iowa Code § 147.140. Therefore, this Court should affirm the District Court's Order denying Defendants' Motion to Dismiss.

Plaintiffs do not dispute that Iowa Codes §§ 147.139 and 147.140 apply to this matter. As the District Court correctly held, the Certificates of Merit filed by the Plaintiffs in this matter were in substantial compliance with Iowa Code § 147.140, and the district court therefore correctly denied Defendants' Motion to Dismiss. Iowa Code § 147.140(b)(1) and (2) provide that a Certificate of Merit must certify that the expert is familiar with the applicable standard of care, and that the standard of care was breached by the health care provider named in the petition. The Certificates in this matter clearly did so. Iowa Code §147.140(a) further provides that the expert witness must meet the qualifying standard of Iowa Code §147.139, although there is no requirement that the qualifications be contained in the Certificate of Merit itself.

Iowa Code § 147.140 states as follows:

147.140 Expert witness – certificate of merit affidavit

1. *a.* In any action for personal injury or wrongful death against a health care provider based upon the alleged negligence in the practice of that profession or occupation or in patient care,

which includes a cause of action for which expert testimony is necessary to establish a prima facie case, the plaintiff shall, prior to the commencement of discovery in the case and within sixty days of the defendant's answer, serve upon the defendant a certificate of merit affidavit signed by an expert witness with respect to the issue of standard of care and an alleged breach of the standard of care. The expert witness must meet the qualifying standards of section 147.139.

b. A certificate of merit affidavit must be signed by the expert witness and certify the purpose for calling the expert witness by providing under the oath of the expert witness all of the following:

(1) The expert witness's statement of familiarity with the applicable standard of care.

(2) The expert witness's statement that the standard of care was breached by the health care provider named in the petition.

c. A plaintiff shall serve a separate certificate of merit affidavit on each defendant named in the petition.

2. An expert witness's certificate of merit affidavit does not preclude additional discovery and supplementation of the expert witness's opinions in accordance with the rules of civil procedure.

3. The parties shall comply with the requirements of section 668.11 and all other applicable law governing certification and disclosure of expert witnesses.

4. The parties by agreement or the court for good cause shown and in response to a motion filed prior to the expiration of the time limits specified in subsection 1 may provide for extension of the time limits. Good cause shall include but not be limited to the inability to timely obtain the plaintiff's medical records from health care providers when requested prior to filing the petition.

5. If the plaintiff is acting pro se, the plaintiff shall have the expert witness sign the certificate of merit affidavit or answers to interrogatories referred to in this section and the plaintiff shall be bound by those provisions as if represented by an attorney.

6. Failure to substantially comply with subsection 1 shall result, upon motion, in dismissal with prejudice of each cause of action to which expert testimony is necessary to establish a prima facie case.

7. For purposes of this section, “*health care provider*” means the same as defined in section 147.136A.

2017 Acts, ch 107, §4, 5

The Certificates of Merit filed in this matter by the Plaintiffs substantially complied with Iowa Code § 147.140(1). Therefore, under § 147.140(6), the District Court properly denied Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss. In this case, Dr. Gordon’s Certificates of Merit did not state that they were “sworn” to, and were not signed in front of a notary. However, both began with the following statement: “In compliance with Iowa Code § 147.140, Leo A. Gordon, M.D., does hereby affirm and state as follows.” There is a long history in American law of the terms “swear” and “affirm” being interchangeable. As the United States Court of Customs and Patent Appeals stated in *Amtorg Trading Corporation*, “That an affirmation is equivalent to an oath is well settled. The Constitution makes it such in the oath of the President, article 2, Sec. 1; when the Senate tries impeachments, article 1, Sec. 3; and in the oaths of state and United States officers, article 6.” *See, Amtorg*

Trading Corporation v. United States, 71 F.2d 524 (Cust. & Pat. App 1934) (emphasis added). In *People v. Sullivan*, the Court of Appeals of New York stated, with regards to the constitutional requirement regarding an “oath or affirmation” in support of a search warrant, “There is no constitutional prescription as to the particular form of the ‘oath or affirmation’ or the exact manner in which it is to be administered. In the usual case, there will be a formal swearing before a notary to the truth of the information provided, and any written statements submitted in support of the warrant application generally will contain the traditional jurat. This does not mean, however, that such procedural formality is a *sine qua non* of the ‘oath or affirmation’ requirement. *People v. Sullivan*, 56 N.Y.2d 378, 383 (New York 1982).

The language used by Dr. Gordon in his Certificates of Merit - “In compliance with Iowa Code § 147.140, Leo A. Gordon, M.D., does hereby affirm and state as follows” – amounts to substantial compliance with Iowa Code § 147.140. This is especially true in the context of Certificates of Merit which contain all of the information required by Section 147.140 and were timely served, as was this case with the Certificates of Merit in this matter. As the Iowa Supreme Court stated in *Superior/Ideal, Inc.*, “Substantial compliance is said to be compliance in respect to essential matters necessary to assure the reasonable objectives of the statute.” *Superior/Ideal, Inc. v. Board of Review of City of*

Oskaloosa, 419 N.1.2d 405 at 406 (Iowa 1988) (internal citations omitted). The statutory objective of Iowa Code § 147.140 was to weed out frivolous medical malpractice claims by mandating early review of cases by qualified experts. As the Iowa Supreme Court stated in *Struck v. Health Services*, “We conclude that the legislature enacted section 147.140 to provide a mechanism for early dismissal with prejudice of professional liability claims against healthcare providers *when supporting expert testimony is lacking.*” *Struck v. Health Services*, 973 N.W.2d 533 (Iowa 2022) (emphasis added). Here, as Dr. Gordon’s Certificates of Merit substantiate, there is qualified expert support for Plaintiffs’ claims in this matter, of which Defendants were given early notice.

Struck dealt with a situation in which the Plaintiff did not timely serve any certificate of merit against the defendant health care provider. This case is not such a situation. Here, Plaintiffs timely produced a statement from a qualified expert that Dr. Chiruvella (and therefore, also, vicariously, his employer) breached of the standard of care. This statement also conveyed all the other information about Dr. Gordon’s qualifications to levy these criticisms against Dr. Chiruvella as are required by Iowa Code § 147.140. With respect to the timeliness aspect of substantial compliance with Iowa Code § 147.140, Plaintiffs served Dr. Gordon’s Certificate of Merit regarding Dr. Chiruvella before it was even required, less than a month after Plaintiffs filed their Petition and before Defendants had even served

their Answer. In fact, since pursuant to Iowa Code § 147.140 Plaintiffs were required to serve a Certificate of Merit within 60 days of Defendants' Answer on October 12, 2022 (i.e., by December 11, 2022), Dr. Gordon's Certificate of Merit regarding Dr. Chiruvella was served a full 81 days before it was due.

As the Iowa Supreme Court stated in *Bontrager Auto Service, Inc. v. Iowa City Bd. of Adjustment*, “[S]ubstantial compliance’ means the statute or rule ‘has been followed sufficiently so as to carry out the intent for which it was adopted.’” *Bontrager Auto Service, Inc. v. Iowa City Bd. of Adjustment*, 748 N.W.2d 483 at 488 (Iowa 2008), quoting *Brown v. John Deere Waterloo Tractor Works*, 423 N.W.2d 193 at 194 (Iowa 1988). Therefore, Plaintiffs met the standard for substantial compliance because Dr. Gordon's Certificates of Merit fulfilled the statutory goal of Iowa Code § 147.140 – that is, to weed out frivolous medical malpractice cases by offering the endorsement of a breach of the standard of care by a qualified expert.

As the Iowa Supreme Court stated in *Dix*, “Moreover, we apply apply substantial compliance to many other statutory requirements with potentially serious consequences.” *See, Dix v. Casey's General Stores, Inc.*, 961 N.W.2d 671 at 682 (Iowa 2021), citing, *State v. Weitzel*, 905 N.W.2d 397 at 406 (Iowa 2017) (guilty plea colloquy), *E. Cent. Cmty. Sch. Dist. v. Miss. Bend Area Educ. Agency*, 813 N.W.2d 741 at 746 (Iowa 2012) (school district reorganization), and *State v. Bird*, 663 N.W.2d 860

at 862 (Iowa 2003) (preliminary breath test machine calibration).

Defendants do not explain how their interpretation of Iowa Code § 147.140 would amount to anything other than a requirement for strict compliance, rather than substantial compliance. As the Iowa Supreme Court held in *East Central Community School District*, Iowa law defines substantial compliance as being something distinguished from “precise and exact compliance.” See *East Cent. Community School Dist.*, citing *Turnis v. Bd. of Educ.*, 109 N.W.2d 198 at 205 (1961). In this matter, even if Plaintiffs did not reach the level of *precise and exact compliance* with Iowa Code § 147.140, they certainly have met the threshold of substantial compliance.

Defendants have cited to no Iowa cases holding that a Certificate of Merit similar to those furnished in this matter by Dr. Gordon are not in substantial compliance with Iowa Code § 147.140. *State v. Carter*, 618 N.W.2d 374 (Iowa 2000) (en banc), cited by Defendants, is easily distinguishable from this matter. *Carter* did not involve Iowa’s Certificate of Merit statute or substantial compliance therewith. Rather, it involved prosecuting someone for the crime of perjury, and discussed the essential elements for such a criminal charge. None of the Iowa cases cited by Defendant held that “substantial compliance” with Iowa Code § 147.140 means that a Certificate of Merit must be signed in front of a notary. While Defendants have cited to cases from other jurisdictions (including an unpublished

opinion of the California Court of Appeals¹) which they cite as being relevant to this issue, none of these cases are binding precedent on this Court, and none of them relate to the interpretation of Iowa’s substantial compliance standard.

Defendants have not pointed to any prejudice that they have suffered as a result of Dr. Gordon’s allegedly deficient Certificate of Merit – nor could they. There is no additional evidence or information about the meritoriousness of Plaintiffs’ claims that would have been conveyed to them if Dr. Gordon had stated that he “swore” to his statement (instead of stating that he “affirmed” it) or if it had been signed in front of a notary.

Essentially, what this Appeal comes down to is that Defendants are asking the Court to dismiss an entire wrongful death case – deemed to be meritorious by a licensed, actively practicing, physician in the same field as the Defendant - because a single document was not signed before a notary. The District Court correctly held that Plaintiffs’ Certificates of Merit of Dr. Gordon substantially complied with Iowa Code § 147.140. Therefore, the district court properly denied Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss. Plaintiffs respectfully submit that Iowa law, common sense, and the interests of justice all strongly support upholding the District Court’s ruling.

¹Under California Rule of Court 8.115 (Citation of Opinions), except for situations involving law of the case, res judicata, collateral estoppel, or criminal or disciplinary actions against the same Defendant, unpublished California Court of Appeal opinions “must not be cited or relied on by a court or party in any other action.” *See*, 2024 Cal. R. Ct 8.1115.

II. Plaintiffs Should Not Be Limited to a Single Theory of Liability Against Dr. Chiruvella

A. Standard of Review

Rulings on motions to dismiss are reviewed for correction of errors of law. *Struck v. Mercy Health Servs.*, 973 N.W.2d 533 at 538 (Iowa 2022). “[M]otions to dismiss are rarely granted and nearly every case will survive a motion to dismiss.” *Weizberg v. City of Des Moines*, 923 N.W.2d 200, 217 (Iowa 2018), citing *U.S. Bank v. Barbour*, 770 N.W.2d 350, 353 (Iowa 2009) and *Rees v. City of Shenandoah*, 682 N.W.2d 77, 79 (Iowa 2004). “Generally, a motion to dismiss should not be granted.” *Weizberg v. City of Des Moines*, 923 N.W.2d 200, 217 (Iowa 2018).

B. Argument

Separately, Defendants also contend that the District Court erred in denying as premature the Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss all other theories of liability against Defendants beyond the discrete instance specified by Dr. Gordon in his Certificates of Merit. Under Defendants’ interpretation of Iowa Code § 147.140, because Dr. Gordon’s Certificates of Merit specify one manner in which Dr. Chiruvella was negligent in his care and treatment of Plaintiffs’ decedent Shirley Gomez – “by failing to timely refer Mrs. Gomez for appropriate work-up and treatment of possible pulmonary embolism” – that this is the only basis on which

Plaintiffs can claim negligence by Dr. Chiruvella, for the entirety of this litigation. This assertion is overly broad and without basis in Iowa Code § 147.140. Iowa Code § 147.140 imposes an initial requirement to be met by Plaintiffs in a medical malpractice civil action. It is not meant to impose upon Plaintiffs the requirement to disclose their full expert testimony in a medical malpractice matter close to the outset of litigation. Essentially, this is the requirement that Defendants - incorrectly - read into the statute.

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